THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COMMON PLEAS COURT
Garrison D. Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-GS-23-2124
Appellate Case No.: 2013-000883

State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Johnie Allen Devore, Jr., Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Falkner Wilkes (SC Bar #12893)
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
(864) 271-6035 (facsimile)

Counsel for Appellant

RECEIVED

JUL 16 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS
Garrison D. Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-GS-23-2124
Appellate Case No.: 2013-000883

Statement of the Issues on Appeal
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts (Relevant facts are included in the Argument)
ARGUMENT
I. The Court Erred in Failing to Dismiss Where Roadside Video Fails
to Show the Appellant Being Advised of His Miranda Rights
Pursuant to S.C. Code Section 56-5-2953.
II. The Court Erred in Refusing to Accept the Defendant's
Stipulation and Allowing the State to Offer the Existence of a
Statutory Six Month Administrative Suspension for a
Refusal as Evidence of Guilt.
III. The Court Erred in Failing to Answer the Jury's Question
About Being Deadlocked 11-1 And Allowing Undue
Pressure on Minority Juror.
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184 (2002)	
Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988)	
State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417, 308 S.E.2d 781 (1983)	
State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 457, 556 S.E.2d 691, 692 (Ct. App. 2001)	
State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 521 S.E.2d 500 (1999)	
State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 470 S.E.2d 106 (1996)	
State v. Sawyer, 27393 (S.C. 6-4-2014)	
State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 460 S.E.2d 573 (1995)	
State v. Sweet, 342 S.C. 342, 349, 536 S.E.2d 91, 94 (Ct.App. 2000).	
Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 552 S.E.2d 712 (2001)	

Statutes

S.C. Code Section 56-5-2930	
S.C. Code Section 56-5-2933	
S.C. Code Section 56-5-2945	
S.C. Code Section 56-5-2950	
S.C. Code Section 56-5-2953	

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in finding that the incident site video was sufficient where it did not contain the entire Miranda warning on the video?
2. Did the court err in refusing to accept the defendant's stipulation and instead allow the State to introduce the implied consent warning as to an administrative suspension for refusing the breath test, as evidence of guilt?
3. Did the court's failure to answer the jury's question about being deadlocked 11-1 allow undue pressure on minority juror?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the grand jury in Greenville County for the offense of Driving Under the Influence 2nd offense. A jury trial was held on March 14, 2013, the Honorable D. Garrison Hill presiding. The Appellant was found guilty and sentenced to 90 days in the county detention center and a fine of \$3,000, suspended to five days HIP and a fine of \$2,100, and probation for six months, MADD victim impact panel meeting, and substance abuse counseling. Elizabeth C. Major, Assistant Solicitor, represented the State at trial. Steve Sumner, of Greenville, represented the Appellant at trial. J. Falkner Wilkes represents the Appellant on the appeal of this case.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Erred in Failing to Dismiss Where Roadside Video Fails to Show the Appellant Being Advised of His Miranda Rights in its Entirety Pursuant to S.C. Code Section 56-5-2953.

The Appellant was pulled over by a South Carolina State Trooper in Greenville County. The Trooper's in-car video was running when the Trooper initiated the stop. The Trooper conducted several field sobriety tests, all of which can be seen on the video. After the field sobriety tests, the Trooper then walked the Appellant out of the camera's view as he began advising the Appellant of his Miranda rights. As a result, the Appellant's Miranda warnings were not captured in their entirety on video. 6. The defense moved to dismiss based on the state's failure to comply with the video taping requirements of S.C. Code Section 56-5-2953. 6.

In response to the defense motion, the State offered the testimony of the arresting Trooper. 8. During his testimony the Trooper's gave no explanation for his decision to walk the Appellant out of the camera's view before the Appellant had been fully advised of his rights under Miranda. 8-11. Ex. S-1 Video. The video does not show the Appellant being fully advised of his Miranda rights.

Although it offered no evidence in support, the State argued: "These cameras don't have a 360-degree view. We're working within budget constraints here." 11. 1, 18-20. The State took the position at trial that the court should "read the statute as a whole" to overlook the Trooper's failure to comply with the clear requirements of 56-5-2953. Contrary to the state's argument, there was no impediment to the Trooper's ability to

comply with the statute. The record shows clearly that the Trooper simply walked the Appellant out of the camera's view before completing the Miranda advisement. The State stipulated at trial that the video did not show the entire advisement. The record fails to show the existence of any statutory exception to the advisement being videoed in its entirety.

The plain language of the Section 56-5-2953 requires not only that there be an incident video, but specifically that the video must **show** the advisement of Miranda. The provisions of 56-5-2953 have repeatedly been construed as mandatory. Since the trial of this case, the Court in State v. Sawyer, 27393 (S.C. 6-4-2014) has ruled that a videotape from the breath test site that lacks the audio portion of the reading of Miranda rights and the informed consent law did not satisfy the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(A)(2) (2006). The video, as contemplated in 56-5-2953, clearly includes both its visual and audio components. In Sawyer the Court held that "A silent video simply cannot meet these statutory requirements." Likewise, a video without the defendant on screen equally fails to meet the statutory requirements, regardless of whether it contains audio. Section 56-5-2953 requires that the incident location video "(iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and **show** the person being advised of his Miranda rights." S.C. Code Section 56-5-2953(iii). Here the incident location video fails to show the Appellant being fully advised of his Miranda rights.

While the state would have the court begin to interpret just how much of a part of Miranda is enough to satisfy 56-5-2953, under the reasoning of the Court's prior rulings,

the state must video the entire advisement of Miranda, not just a portion of it. Anything less than the full advisement falls short of strict compliance and dances upon the proverbial slippery slope. Because the visual component is an essential part of the video requirement, and no exception applies, the court erred in failing to suppress evidence from the stop and dismiss the Appellant's charge.

II. The Court Erred in Refusing to Accept the Defendant's Stipulation and Allowing the State to Offer the Existence of a Statutory Six Month Administrative Suspension for a Refusal as Evidence of Guilt.

The defendant objected to the admission of any reference to the implied consent warning relating to the six-month administrative suspension for refusing a breath test. 21-32; 89-91; St. Ex. 4. In conjunction with the objection, the defense stipulated that the defendant was "properly given and offered the SLED test." 25, l. 23-24. While the defense agreed that the refusal itself could be considered against the defendant, it argued that the potential for a six-month administrative suspension for a refusal was irrelevant to the criminal case. 22. The state sought to introduce the Appellant's refusal in light of the potential administrative penalty as evidence of guilt. 24. The court ruled that the risk of administrative suspension of the Appellant's license for refusing to give a breath sample was relevant to the issue of guilt and not overly prejudicial. 91.

In addressing the admissibility of the implied consent warning the Court has held that the reference to the failure to request additional tests was improper. State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 457, 556 S.E.2d 691, 692 (Ct. App. 2001). In Henderson the Court reasoned:

Given the offer to stipulate by Henderson's counsel, there was no plausible reason why this language should have been read to the jury. Unlike the situation in *Wilson*, the State was not required to lay a foundation for the Datamaster test results. While we recognize that a stipulation usually involves the consent of all parties, the State's consent was not necessary here, where, by statute, "a person's . . . failure to request additional blood or urine tests is not admissible against the person in the criminal trial." § 56-5-2950(a). It was thus error for the municipal court judge to allow it to come before the jury.

State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 457, 556 S.E.2d 691, 692 (Ct. App. 2001).

Although the additional tests language was redacted in this case, the State still admitted the remainder of the advisement, specifically the administrative penalty for refusal, to establish evidence of guilt. Although the Court in Henderson did not reach the admissibility of the potential for administrative penalty for a refusal, the result should be the same.

S.C. Code Section 56-5-2950(B)(1) provides that a person "does not have to take the test or give the samples, but that his privilege to drive must be suspended or denied for at least six months if he refuses to submit to the test and that his *refusal* may be used against him in court". Similarly, Section 2946(B) provides: " The resistance, obstruction, or opposition to testing pursuant to this section is evidence admissible at the trial of the offense which precipitated the requirement for testing." Nowhere, however, is there any provision that provides for the admissibility of the potential administrative penalty for a refusal as further evidence of guilt.

In offering evidence of the administrative suspension the State seeks to have the jury infer guilt based on the willingness of a defendant to risk the potential hardship caused by an administrative suspension. This risk would vary from person to person based upon

each person's particular situation. The administrative penalty would be more severe on those heavily dependent on a driver's license than those non-reliant on the ability to drive. Without more evidence, it is impossible for the jury to evaluate the effect of the penalty on any particular defendant. This leaves the jury to speculate as to the effect of the penalty, and thus, how to evaluate the refusal in light of any given length of potential suspension. This also places the defendant in a position of having to offer evidence to allow the jury to quantify the effect of a potential suspension. Otherwise, the jury would not be able determine what weight to place on the defendant's decision to risk a suspension to exercise a statutory right. Placing a defendant in the position of having to introduce evidence to justify the exercise of a statutory right is simply untenable. The admission of the potential administrative penalty to establish guilt was therefore error.

In the Appellant's case there was less than overwhelming evidence of guilt. Where there is less than overwhelming evidence, the improper admission of evidence is not harmless. *See State v. Henderson, supra; State v. Sweet*, 342 S.C. 342, 349, 536 S.E.2d 91, 94 (Ct.App. 2000).

III. The Court Erred in Failing to Answer the Jury's Question about Being Deadlocked 11-1 And Allowing Undue Pressure on Minority Juror.

After hours of deliberation the jury sent out two or more notes, one of which indicated that the jury was split in their verdict. 163; C-1; C-2. The jury wanted to know what would happen if they could not reach a unanimous verdict. Without a lot of discussion, the court brought out the foreman and asked him to find out if they wanted to stay and continue to deliberate, or come back in the morning. The foreman inquired

about seeing the video again and returned to the jury room. The court did not answer the jury's question concerning what would happen if they could not reach a unanimous verdict. The foreman subsequently sent word that they would continue deliberating.

The failure of the court to answer the jury's question had the effect of placing undue influence on the minority juror. Although a *de novo* issue, the law relating to an *Allen* charge is instructive. The jury in this case had deliberated for over two hours and it was after six o'clock in the evening. The court commented that the jury was getting tired. 163. There had been numerous questions from the jury. (Jury Notes). One of the questions revealed that the jury was deadlocked 11 to 1. The jury specifically asked the question: "What happens when a one juror has a different verdict from the others?" p. 163, l. 9-10; C-__. The court simply chose not to answer the jury's question. 163. It then let the foreman of the grand jury to "inquire" as to whether they wanted to continue or come back in the morning. The foreman reported that the jury wanted to continue on that evening. The jury was not instructed, questioned or polled by the Court. Presumably, either the foreman, or the majority was allowed to make the decision to continue deliberations into the night.

Providing no instruction on how long they would be kept that evening, or what could happen if hopelessly deadlocked, undue influence was allowed to enter the jury deliberations. Failing to answer the jury's question as to what happens with a hung jury, or to give the jury any idea of how late into the evening they would have to stay, was coercive in regards to the minority juror. It allowed the majority to effectively hold

the minority juror hostage indefinitely unless he or she changed his or her verdict. The failure of the court to answer the jury's question acted to coerce the jury into a verdict and focused naturally on the minority juror.

Although the unsolicited disclosure of the jury's division by a juror is not by itself grounds for a mistrial, in this case once the court became aware of the numerical split in the jury it was incumbent upon it to prevent undue influence from being injected into the deliberations.

In South Carolina state courts, an *Allen* charge cannot be directed to the minority voters on the jury panel. State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417, 308 S.E.2d 781 (1983). Instead, an *Allen* charge should be even-handed, directing both the majority and the minority to consider the other's views. See State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 521 S.E.2d 500 (1999). A trial judge has a duty to urge, but not coerce, a jury to reach a verdict. State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 470 S.E.2d 106 (1996). It is not coercion to charge every juror has a right to his own opinion and need not give up the opinion merely to reach a verdict. State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 460 S.E.2d 573 (1995). Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184 (2002).

South Carolina adopted the standard set by the United States Supreme Court in Lowenfield to determine whether an *Allen* charge is unconstitutionally coercive. Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (citing Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. at 237, 108 S.Ct. 546) Those factors are:

(1) *Does the charge/ or in this case, the lack thereof, speak specifically to the minority juror(s);*

In this case the situation allowed undue pressure on the minority juror. From the record we know we have a minority juror, and that the jury was deadlocked at 11-1. The record also shows that the jury specifically had a question concerning their inability to reach a unanimous verdict. The court's failure to answer the question about a hung jury, to give an *Allen* charge, or to determine whether continuing would be appropriate, allowed undue pressure on the minority juror. (Part of an *Allen* charge includes the instruction that a juror need not abandon his convictions).

(2) Does the charge/ or in this case, the lack thereof, indicate that the jury had to reach a decision in this case;

By not answering the question about the potential for mistrial, or polling the jury as to continuing, the court allowed the majority to exert undue pressure on the minority juror forcing the jury to reach a verdict. The minority juror was left in a position of being stuck there indefinitely unless he or she changed his or her verdict.

(3) Was there an inquiry into the jury's numerical division, which is generally coercive;

Although the Court did not inquire of the division, the split was clear from the jury note. The court was therefore aware of the numerical division so that any action (or inaction) it took would be seen by the minority as directed at him or her.

(4) The time the jury takes to return a verdict after the Court's action.

A verdict returned shortly after a supplemental charge, suggests a possibility of coercion. Although in John Devore's case counsel did not object to the Court's failure to respond to the jury question, or continuation of deliberations further into the evening,