ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000883

RECEIVED
FEB 04 2015
SG Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JOHNIE ALLEN DEVORE, JR.,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Later in trial, the defense objected to the implied consent form containing the language about the six-month suspension and objected to the Datamaster video which

also contained that language.⁶ (R. p. 119-25). Significantly, however, although defense counsel was given the opportunity to review the jury charge in advance (R. p. 140, lines 2-12; p. 142, lines 6-25), he failed to object to the fact that the judge's instructions to the jury included a reading of the implied consent statute containing the six-month suspension language. (R. p. 142, lines 6-25; p. 185-86; p. 188, lines 20-24). In fact, after the jury charge was completed, and the judge asked whether there were any objections, defense counsel specifically told the court there were no objections from the defense. (R. p. 188, lines 18-24).

Issue Preservation

Initially, the issue raised on appeal is not preserved for review because Appellant expressly waived any complaint he had below. As mentioned above, in the jury charge, the judge provided the jury with information regarding the fact that a six-month driver's license suspension is a consequence of refusal to take the breath test. (R. p. 185-86). Appellant had no objection to this jury instruction and in fact expressly told the judge after the jury charge ended that he had no objection. (R. p. 188, lines 20-24). Accordingly, Appellant waived any objection to the jury being given information about the six-month suspension. See State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had 'no objection.' We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape."); Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d

⁶ Defense counsel did not object to the officer's testimony about the six-month suspension. (R. p. 120, lines 21-25).

84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”).

Further, even if defense counsel’s failure to object to the language regarding the six-month suspension in the jury charge did not operate as a waiver of his previous objection, the fact that the jury was provided with information regarding the six-month suspension in the jury charge rendered the evidence regarding the six-month suspension at trial merely cumulative. Therefore, any error with respect to admission of the unredacted implied consent form and unredacted Datamaster video was entirely harmless. See, e.g., State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless).

The issue is also not preserved for appellate review because the argument made on appeal is different than the argument raised to the trial judge. Before the trial judge, defense counsel argued **only** that the language regarding the six-month suspension was not relevant. (See R. p. 21-32). On appeal, Appellant relies on State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 556 S.E.2d 691 (Ct. App. 2001), arguing that the statute itself does not provide that the administrative penalty for refusal of the test is admissible, and further argues that allowing evidence of the six-month suspension “places the defendant in a position of having to offer evidence to allow the jury to quantify the effect of a potential suspension” and that “[p]lacing a defendant in the position of having to introduce evidence to justify the exercise of a statutory right is simply untenable.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 5-6). The

new arguments made on appeal - which do not even mention relevance - are not preserved for review and should not be addressed by this Court. See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (finding an issue not properly preserved for appeal where one ground is raised below and another ground is raised on appeal); State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58–59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (holding to preserve an issue for review there must be a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court with the objection addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error, and if a party fails to properly object, he is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal); see also I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000) (“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.”). Therefore, Appellant’s issue regarding admission of evidence of the six-month suspension should be dismissed on error preservation grounds.

Discussion of the Merits

Assuming the issue on appeal is somehow preserved for review, the trial judge did not err in admitting evidence regarding the six-month driver’s license suspension which is a consequence of a person’s refusal to take a breath test. S.C. Code § 56-5-2950, the implied consent statute, provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(B) No tests may be administered or samples obtained unless, upon activation of the video recording equipment and prior to the commencement of the testing procedure, the person has been given a written copy of and verbally informed that:

(1) the person does not have to take the test or give the samples, but that the person's privilege to drive must be suspended or denied for at least six months with the option of ending the suspension if the person enrolls in the Ignition Interlock Device Program, if the person refuses to submit to the test, *and that the person's refusal may be used against the person in court*[.]

S.C. Code § 56-5-2950(B)(1) (emphasis added); see also S.C. Code § 56-5-2951.

Significantly, subsection (G) of S.C. Code § 56-5-2950 provides that “[t]he provisions of this section must not be construed as limiting the introduction of any other evidence bearing upon the question of whether or not the person was under the influence of alcohol, drugs, or a combination of alcohol or drugs.” S.C. Code § 56-5-2950(G).

Thus, subsection (B) of the implied consent statute expressly permits a person’s refusal to take a breath test or provide biological samples to be used against the person in court. Significantly, the person cannot even be offered any tests unless the person is first advised, verbally and in writing, that there are certain consequences for refusing a test. Subsection (G) makes it clear that “any other evidence” relevant to the question of whether or not the person was under the influence is admissible.

A person’s refusal to take a breath test or provide samples is not - standing alone - particularly probative of guilt. However, when there are consequences flowing from a refusal - and the person is fully advised of these consequences - the refusal becomes highly probative on the issue of guilt. Obviously, on one hand, a person with nothing to hide would be inclined to take the test and clear themselves of wrongdoing, particularly where he or she knows there are significant consequences for refusing the test. On the

other hand, an impaired person would be inclined to refuse to the test, and the fact that a person refuses the test despite the consequences bolsters the inference of impairment.

Here, the consequences of refusing a breath test are that “the person's privilege to drive must be suspended or denied for at least six months” and that “the person's refusal may be used against the person in court.” S.C. Code § 56-5-2950(B)(1). Appellant was fully advised of these consequences before he was offered the test and before he refused the test. (R. p. 119-25). As the solicitor argued below, it is only fair that the jury have a full picture of the choice Appellant faced that night and of what he chose to give up by refusing to submit to the test. The consequences of refusal are obviously relevant and probative on the issue of impairment - and thus guilt - and the jury was entitled to know about them. See State v. Rocha, 335 P.3d 586, 591 (2014) (in case where defendant argued that his “suspension advisory form” - which contained information about the consequences of refusal to take a breath test including suspension of his driver’s license - was not relevant, the Idaho Supreme Court of held that the suspension advisory form was in fact relevant because “the form stated the adverse consequences faced by [the defendant] for failing to perform evidentiary testing,” and thus “it strengthened the inference that he was unwilling to submit to a test because he believed the test results would show an alcohol concentration above the legal limit”).

Appellant’s reliance on State v. Henderson is misplaced. Henderson dealt with admission of evidence regarding a person’s right to have an independent test to determine his blood-alcohol level. State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 556 S.E.2d 691 (Ct. App. 2001). Critically, the implied consent statute specifically provides that a person’s failure to request additional blood or urine tests is **not** admissible against the person in court. Id.

at 458, 556 S.E.2d at 693; see also S.C. Code § 56-5-2950(D). Although the State was required to lay a foundation for the Datamaster test results, the defense offered to stipulate that the proper procedures were followed and that he was advised of his statutory rights. Id. at 458, 556 S.E.2d at 692. Therefore, this Court held, “there was no plausible reason why [the language about the right to an independent test] should have been read to the jury,” particularly where the magistrate judge had ruled that the language would be redacted from the report itself. Id.

In Appellant’s case, the issue is not regarding the language about the right to independent testing, since the State properly redacted that language. (R. p. 55, lines 13-17). Instead, the issue is regarding language about consequences stemming from the refusal to take a breath test. As discussed above, the statute expressly provides that a person’s refusal may be used against them, and the evidence regarding the consequences of refusal is clearly relevant to a jury’s assessment of the significance of a person’s refusal. The Henderson case is factually and legally distinguishable and does not support Appellant’s position.⁷ For the reasons discussed above, the trial judge did not err in allowing evidence regarding the six-month driver’s license suspension.

⁷ Regarding Appellant’s unpreserved argument that allowing evidence of the six-month suspension “places the defendant in a position of having to offer evidence to allow the jury to quantify the effect of a potential suspension,” this contention is wholly without merit. Appellant’s argument confuses admissibility of legitimately probative evidence with a jury issue regarding the weight of such evidence. As with any other evidence of guilt, if a particular defendant believes he is an exception to the rule - in other words, that the State’s legitimately probative evidence is less probative when applied to him - he may present such a theory through cross-examination, closing argument, and, if he so chooses, through his own testimony or the testimony of defense witnesses.

- IV. Appellant's issue regarding the judge's failure to answer the jury's question is not preserved for appellate review where defense counsel failed to contemporaneously object to the judge's procedure below and where defense counsel was in fact the one who suggested that the judge refrain from immediately answering the jury's question. In addition to not being preserved, Appellant's argument is wholly speculative and without merit.**

Relevant Facts

After deliberating for approximately one-hour and forty-five minutes, the jurors sent out a note asking the following question: "What happens if one juror has a different verdict than the others?" (R. p. 188-94; p. 194, lines 9-10). After advising the attorneys about this note, the judge stated he was considering giving the jurors the option of stopping deliberations for the evening and returning in the morning because he thought they were getting tired in light of other jury questions that had come up. (R. p. 194, lines 9-15). Defense counsel apparently agreed and ultimately stated "[t]hat's fine with me." (R. p. 194-95; p. 195, line 7). The judge then presented this option to the foreman of the jury and asked that he confer with the other jurors and then let the court know their decision. (R. p. 195-96). The jury subsequently decided to stay and continue deliberations. (R. p. 196, lines 14-15). After the foreman indicated that the jurors wished to watch one of the videos again, the jury was provided with a computer on which to watch the video. (R. p. 196-98).

Thereafter, the judge reminded the attorneys that there was an outstanding jury question regarding what happens if one juror has a different verdict than the others. (R. p. 198, lines 19-22). The judge then stated, "I don't know what y'all want to do with that. Do you want to wait and see what they do?" (R. p. 198, line 21-22). Defense counsel responded: "Why don't we give them 15 or 20 minutes. Do you want to do that?"

I mean, this may solve it.” (R. p. 198, lines 24-25). The judge agreed and stated, “[a]ll right.” (R. p. 199, lines 1-2). Approximately 15 or 20 minutes later, the jury reached its guilty verdict. (R. p. 199, lines 5-23). During the subsequent sentencing hearing, defense counsel raised no issue with the judge’s failure to answer the jury’s question. (R. p. 199-206). In fact, the issue was not raised until a post-trial hearing, at which time a different attorney represented Appellant. (R. p. 209-20). The judge denied Appellant’s motion for new trial on this ground by order filed March 31, 2014. (See R. p. 1-3).

Issue Preservation

As Appellant’s counsel appears to have conceded at the post-trial hearing,⁸ the issue being raised on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. (R. p. 211, lines 17-18; p. 216, line 21 – p. 217, line 3; see also p. 214, lines 1-19; p. 219, lines 10-20). Not only did defense counsel fail to contemporaneously object at the appropriate time, he in fact suggested that the trial judge give the jurors “15 or 20 minutes” rather than immediately answer the jury’s question. Defense counsel also had no complaints about the trial judge’s procedure for allowing the jurors to determine whether or not they wished to return in the morning, and he never requested that the jurors be instructed, polled, or given an Allen charge. Appellant cannot now complain on appeal where he failed to timely and properly object below and where his own conduct helped induce the alleged error. See State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 499 S.E.2d 209 (1998) (to preserve an issue for appellate review, the objection must be timely made, which usually requires it

⁸ Specifically, Appellant’s counsel agreed that no contemporaneous objection was raised by trial counsel. (R. p. 211, lines 15-19). Appellant’s counsel also stated that “[p]reservation of error becomes critical for the direct appeal, but not for the motion for a new trial.” (R. p. 216, lines 23-25). The judge noted at the post-trial hearing that Appellant’s trial counsel did not want him to give the jury an Allen charge and that defense counsel specifically agreed with the court’s procedure regarding the jury question. (R. p. 219, lines 10-20).

be made at the earliest possible opportunity); State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”); State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 509-510, 514 S.E.2d 578, 581 (1999) (where defendant failed to object to issue arising during the jury charge until after the verdict in his post-trial motion for a new trial, he waived appellate review of the issue); Bank of New York v. Sumter County, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.”); State v. Logan, 279 S.C. 345, 348, 306 S.E.2d 622, 624 (1983) (“Appellant can neither take advantage of an error he contributed to at trial nor preserve a vice and, upon learning of the outcome of trial, raise it on appeal.”); State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) (“Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal.”); State v. Hale, 284 S.C. 348, 355, 326 S.E.2d 418, 423 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Hale concedes that no exception was taken to the ‘Allen’ charge in the trial court. Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to object to the charge, Hale cannot properly raise the issue for the first time on appeal.”); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”). Therefore, Appellant’s issue regarding the jury question must be dismissed on error preservation grounds.

Discussion

Even if the issue had been properly preserved for review, Appellant’s argument is wholly speculative and without merit. Appellant asserts that, because the jury asked a

question about what would happen if one of the jurors had a different verdict than the others, there must have been a minority juror and this minority juror was unduly influenced. Appellant's argument thus assumes that the jury was deadlocked eleven to one; however, such an assumption is without basis in actual fact. The jury never informed the court it was deadlocked. As the trial judge pointed out, the jury may have simply been asking a hypothetical question. (R. p. 1, footnote 1). Again, because defense counsel acquiesced in the trial judge's procedure below and actually encouraged the judge **not** to immediately answer the jury's question, this issue was not explored at the trial level and consequently cannot be explored on appeal. There are simply no facts in the record to support the notion that there was in fact a minority juror or that he or she was unduly influenced by the court's procedure.

Furthermore, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by delaying the answering of the jury question until after the jury watched the video - as per defense counsel's request. He also did not abuse his discretion by allowing the foreman to inquire of the other jurors regarding whether or not they wished to stop deliberating for the evening. See e.g., State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) ("The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge, who will not be reversed in the absence of a prejudicial abuse of discretion.") (citation omitted); see also United States v. Barnes, 586 F.2d 1052, 1060 (5th Cir. 1978) (in case where the trial judge failed to answer a jury question before a verdict was reached due to a lengthy objection from defense counsel, the court stated, "[h]aving delayed the answering of the question in order to serve the interests of his client, counsel cannot now complain that he was prejudiced by the delay.").

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